DROWNING IN NSW WATERWAYS: MEN AGED 25 TO 34 YEARS

2005/06 TO 2014/15





ABOUT ROYAL LIFE SAVING

Royal Life Saving is focused on reducing drowning and promoting healthy, active and skilled communities through innovative, reliable, evidence based advocacy; strong and effective partnerships; quality programs, products and services; underpinned by a cohesive and sustainable national organisation.

Royal Life Saving is a public benevolent institution (PBI) dedicated to reducing drowning and turning everyday people into everyday community lifesavers. We achieve this through: advocacy, education, training, health promotion, aquatic risk management, community development, research, sport, leadership and participation and international networks.

© 2017 Royal Life Saving Society – Australia

This publication is copyright. Except as expressly provided in the Copyright Act 1968 and the Copyright Amendment Act 2006, no part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in any retrieval system or transmitted by any means (including electronic, mechanical, microcopying, photocopying, recording or otherwise) without prior permission from Royal Life Saving Society – Australia.

For enquiries concerning reproduction, contact RLSSA on: Phone **02 8217 3111**; Email: **info@rlssa.org.au**

Every attempt has been made to trace and acknowledge copyright, but in some cases this may not have been possible. Royal Life Saving apologises for any accidental infringements and would welcome any information to redress the situation.

Printed copies of this document are available upon request. Please contact: PO Box 558 Broadway NSW 2007 Australia Phone: 02 8217 3111 Email: info@rlssa.org.au

Funded by the NSW Government under the Water Safety Fund. The views expressed herein do not necessarily reflect the views of the NSW Government.



Suggested Citation: Pidgeon, S, Peden, AE (2017). A 10 year drowning analysis of men aged 25 to 34 years in New South Wales. Royal Life Saving Society – Australia. Sydney.



Men aged 25-34 years drowned between 1 July 2005 and 30 June 2015









PREVENTION STRATEGIES



YOUNG MEN AND DROWNING: AN ANALYSIS OF DROWNING DEATHS AMONG MEN AGED 25-34 YEARS

Table of Contents	
Table of figures	5
Did you know?	6
Executive Summary	6
	0
Next steps	δ
Policy, Programs and Advocacy	δ Ω
Research Agenda	
Background	9
Aims	10
Methods	10
Results	11
Overall demographic information	
Time of drowning deaths	12
Season	
Month	
Day of the week	
Time of day	
Location and activity related to drowning deaths	
Location	
Activity	
Risk factors related to drowning deaths	
Alcohol	
Alcohol Relevance	
Drugs	
Alcohol and drugs	
Pre-existing Medical conditions	
Lifejacket usage	
Other factors	
Flood-related	
Multiple fatality event (MFE)	
Discussion	
Limitations	
Conclusion	
References	23

Table of Figures

Figure 1: Drowning deaths among men aged 25 to 34 years in NSW by financial year	11
Figure 2: Drowning deaths among men aged 25 to 34 years in NSW by age in years	11
Figure 3: Drowning deaths among men aged 25 to 34 years in NSW by country of birth	11
Figure 4: Drowning deaths among men aged 25 to 34 years in NSW by type of visa	12
Figure 5: Drowning deaths among men aged 25 to 34 years in NSW by remoteness classification of incident	12
Figure 6: Drowning deaths among men aged 25 to 34 years in NSW by visitor status	12
Figure 7: Drowning deaths among men aged 25 to 34 years in NSW by season of drowning incident	12
Figure 8: Drowning deaths among men aged 25 to 34 years in NSW by month	12
Figure 9: Drowning deaths among men aged 25 to 34 years in NSW by day of week	13
Figure 10: Drowning deaths among men aged 25 to 34 years in NSW by time band	13
Figure 11: Drowning deaths among men aged 25 to 34 years in NSW by location	13
Figure 12: Drowning deaths among males aged 25 to 34 years in NSW by location and visitor status	13
Figure 13: Drowning deaths among men aged 25 to 34 years in NSW by activity	14
Figure 14: Drowning deaths among men aged 25 to 34 years in NSW by presence of alcohol	14
Figure 15: Drowning deaths among men aged 25 to 34 years in NSW analysed by alcohol presence and age	14
Figure 16: Drowning deaths among men aged 25 to 34 years in NSW by alcohol presence and location	14
Figure 17: Drowning deaths among men aged 25 to 34 years in NSW by alcohol presence and activity	15
Figure 18: Drowning deaths among men aged 25 to 34 years in NSW analysed by alcohol and time of day	15
Figure 19: Drowning deaths among men aged 25 to 34 years in NSW by alcohol relevance	15
Figure 20: Drowning deaths among men aged 25 to 34 years in NSW by alcohol relevance and location	15
Figure 21: Drowning deaths among men aged 25 to 34 years in NSW by alcohol relevance and activity	16
Figure 22: Drowning deaths among men aged 25 to 34 years in NSW by presence of drugs	16
Figure 23: Drowning deaths among men aged 25 to 34 years in NSW by drugs and age	16
Figure 24: Drowning deaths among men aged 25 to 34 years in NSW by drugs and location	16
Figure 25: Drowning deaths among men aged 25 to 34 years in NSW by drugs and activity	17
Figure 26: Drowning deaths among men aged 25 - 34 years in NSW by legality of drugs	17
Figure 27: Drowning deaths among men aged 25 to 34 years in NSW by legality of drugs	17
Figure 28: Drowning deaths among men aged 25 to 34 years in NSW by drug legality and location	17
Figure 29: Drowning deaths among men aged 25 to 34 years in NSW by drugs and activity	17
Figure 30: Drowning deaths among men aged 25 to 34 years in NSW by alcohol and/or drugs	18
Figure 31: Drowning deaths among men aged 25 to 34 years in NSW by pre-existing medical condition	18
Figure 32: Drowning deaths among men aged 25 to 34 years in NSW by lifejacket wear while rock fishing	18
Figure 33: Drowning deaths among men aged 25 to 34 years in NSW by flooding	19
Figure 34: Drowning deaths among men aged 25 to 34 years in NSW by multiple fatality event	19
Figure 35: Drowning deaths among men aged 25 to 34 years in NSW by multiple fatality event and location	19

DID YOU KNOW?

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

- Between 1 July 2005 and 30 June 2015 (a period of 10 financial years), 121 men aged 25-34 years drowned in NSW waterways
- Beaches were the leading location for drowning, accounting for 29.8% of deaths
- The most common activity being undertaken prior to drowning was swimming and recreating (29.8%)
- Over a third of drowning incidents occurred in major cities (47.1%), with three quarters of people who drowned not visitors to the location of the incident (74.4%)
- Drowning deaths most commonly occurred in summer (42.1%), with the highest number occurring in January (16.5%)
- Most people drowned on a Saturday (23.1%) or a Sunday (21.5%), with 43.8% drowning in the afternoon between midday and 6pm
- Visitors were more likely to drown at the beach compared to non-visitors (40.6% vs. 25.8%)
- Over a third of all drowning deaths were known to involve alcohol (36.4%)
- Of those drowning deaths which were known to involve alcohol, the amount of alcohol detected was deemed contributory in 58.1% of cases (BAC greater than or equal to 0.05)
- Alcohol was present in 75.0% of non-aquatic transport and 60.0% of boating drowning deaths
- Rivers, creeks and streams was the location with the highest number of men over the alcohol limit
- 60.0% of people considered visitors were over the alcohol limit
- Of the 23.1% of cases which were known to involve drugs, 42.9% were legal drugs, 35.7% were illegal substances and 21.4% of cases involved both legal and illegal drugs
- 57.5% of men with illegal drugs in their system drowned in inland waterways
- Among men who were boating and rock fishing, none were recorded to be wearing a lifejacket
- In 16.5% of cases, more than one person drowned during the incident, resulting in a multiple fatality event, with alcohol present in 40% of people involved in multiple fatality events



On average 102 people have drowned per year in New South Wales (NSW) over a period of 10 years, 79.1% male, with the highest proportion among the 45 – 55 years (14.7%) and 25 – 34 years age groups (13.9%). The Australian Water Safety Council has identified men aged between 25 – 64 years as a key demographic for drowning, along with reducing alcohol and drug related drowning deaths.

All unintentional drowning deaths among males aged 25 to 34 years, which occurred between 1 July 2005 and 30 June 2015 in NSW were included in this report. Information for this report has been collected from the National Coronial Information System (NCIS) and media reports. It has been collated and analysed by the Royal Life Saving Society – Australia. Royal Life Saving uses a media monitoring service all year round to identify drowning deaths in the media. The information is then corroborated with information from the NCIS, police and Royal Life Saving State and Territory Member Organisations before being included in this report. Data were analysed using SPSS Version 24. Descriptive statistics were utilised, as well as chi squared analysis. Statistical significance was deemed p<0.01.

Over the past 10 financial years (1 July 2005 – 30 June 2015), 121 men aged 25 - 34 years drowned in NSW waterways. This represents 11.8% of all drowning deaths in NSW during this time period with a crude drowning rate of 2.38 per 100,000 men aged 25-34 years. In comparison, 20 females drowned during the same period, at a crude rate of 0.39 per 100,000 population.

The highest number of drowning deaths in this demographic were of males aged 25 years (15.7%) and 30 years (14.0%), with 47.1% occurring in major cities. The majority of people who drowned were local residents (i.e. not visitors) to the location of the drowning incident (74.4%). Nearly half had been born overseas (43.8%), of which 37.2% were from non-English speaking countries. Where information was known, 9.0% of men were in Australia on a student or working visa.

The highest number of deaths occurred in the summer months of January (16.5%), December (14.0%) and February (11.6%), almost half occurred on a Saturday (23.1%) or Sunday (21.5%). The afternoon hours (between 12:01pm and 6pm) were the most common time for drowning incidents to occur (43.8%).

Beaches were the leading location for drowning (29.8%), followed by rivers, creeks and streams (24.8%), and rocks (18.2%). The most common activity being undertaken prior to drowning was swimming and recreating (29.8%), followed by rock fishing (15.7%). Those born overseas were found to be 3.8 times more likely to drown at rocks than Australian born men (29.0% vs. 7.7%, X2 = 31.2, p<0.05).

Over a third of all drowning deaths were known to involve alcohol (36.4%). Men were more likely to consume alcohol than not, at inland waterways and ocean/harbour locations. Of those with alcohol present, most were swimming and recreating (31.8%) or boating (20.5%). Alcohol was present more often than not, in deaths related to non-aquatic transport (yes: 75.0%, no: 25.0%), boating (yes: 60.0%, no: 13.3%), an unknown activity (yes: 57.1%, no: 28.6%), an unexpected fall into water (yes: 44.4%, no: 33.3%), and whilst swimming and recreating (yes: 38.9%, no: 30.6%). 45.5% of alcohol related deaths occurred in the evening and early morning. Men that drowned in the early morning were 5 times more likely to have alcohol present than not (yes: 22.7%, no: 4.3%).

Of those with alcohol present, 58.1% were deemed to have a BAC \geq 0.05mg/L. Those that drowned in rivers, creeks and streams were most likely to be over the limit (44.0%). More men were found to be over the limit in all locations except for ocean/harbour locations (yes: 33.3%, no: 50.0%) and 'other' locations (no: 100%). Almost half of those over the limit had been swimming and recreating or boating (24.0% each).

Almost one quarter had drugs present (23.1%), including both legal and illegal substances. Rivers, creek and streams (32.1%) recorded the highest number of deaths involving drugs, whilst 28.6% were swimming and recreating. Where information was known, 57.1% had consumed illegal drugs and 42.9% had consumed legal drugs (e.g. medication). Of those with illegal substances present, 56.3% occurred at inner regional locations, and 62.5% at an inland waterway location. Interestingly, overseas-born men were significantly less likely to have consumed drugs (11.3% vs. 40.4%, X2 = 15.9 p<0.05) than those born in Australia. A pre-exisiting medical condition was present in 15.7% of men. Common medical conditions identified included: cardiovascular disease, epilepsy, liver disease, depression and other mental health disorders. Of those with a pre-exisiting medical condition, 26.3% drowned at the beach and 21.1% were swimming and recreating.

Other risk factors included lack of lifejacket wearing when boating and rock fishing. No cases were found to be wearing a lifejacket at the time of death when doing either activity. In 16.5% of cases, more than one person drowned during the incident, resulting in a multiple fatality event (MFE). Of these, 40.0% drowned at a river, creek or stream, 30.0% occurred when using watercraft and 20.0% swimming and recreating. Alcohol was present in 40.0% of MFEs and three of the four cases involving drugs had illegal drugs recorded. A small proportion drowned in flooded waterways (3.3%).

This study reinforced certain risk factors for drowning among men aged 25-34 years such as alcohol and drug consumption during aquatic activity and more locals drowning than visitors. Specific issues have emerged among men in NSW, such as rock fishing and being of overseas born origin, and will be discussed in further detail. Further research is required to better understand the behaviour and decision making processes of young men when they are in, on and around the water, and how to best use this information to reduce drowning deaths among this high risk population.



Policy, Programs and Advocacy

- Develop a campaign (including social media and advertising) in collaboration with key partners, communicating drowning prevention messages regarding alcohol consumption at key high risk areas for men aged 25-34 years, including those recreating:
- At inland waterways, specifically river, creek and stream locations
- At aquatic locations in the evening, often extending into the early morning hours
- Whilst boating
- At swimming pools (specifically home and hotel/resort swimming pools)
- Explore avenues for promotion of campaign and associated messages in sporting and local events across NSW, including the use of ambassadors appealing to those in the target demographic
- Evaluate impact of campaign to identify successes and inform future campaign development with this and similar target demographics
- Convey the potential for drowning incidents following alcohol consumption to end in a multiple fatality event with more than one life lost in a single incident
- Investigate partnerships with boating regulators to promote and strengthen existing boating safety legislation and highlight the legal ramifications to those who skipper a boat whilst under the influence of a contributory level of alcohol (BAC ≥0.05) and whilst under the influence of illegal drugs
- Explore opportunities to deliver targeted education to new arrivals or temporary visitors to Australia who are on student or work visas
- Continue to communicate the importance of checking local conditions and hazards at all aquatic locations, including familiar sites as conditions can change rapidly

Research Agenda

- Complement existing fatal drowning data by comparing with non-fatal drowning data to gain a more complete understanding of the full burden of drowning in this age group
- Explore the decision making processes of men in this age group through the use of behavioural research in order to gain a better understanding of why men engage in risky behaviours around water and the motivations behind this
- Examine the role of alcohol and drugs in drowning deaths across all age groups, including both legal and illegal substances
- Extend this study to include all men aged 25-64 years (as identified in the Australian Water Safety Strategy 2016-2020), focusing on the circumstances of the drowning death and relevant risk factors



BACKGROUND

On average, 282 people drown each year in Australia. Males are over-represented in the drowning statistics, accounting for 83% of all drowning deaths overall. The 10 year average drowning number in NSW is 102 people each year, of which 80 men compared to 22 females drown annually (1).

This report is based on a 10 year drowning study of men aged 25 – 34 years (1 July 2005 to 30 June 2015), and further analyses the NSW statistics over the same period (2).

The burden of drowning among men is well documented. Studies from other high income countries have previously reported similar rates of men drowning in New Zealand (3), Canada (4-5) and the United States (6), all reporting the drowning rate of males as being 80% or higher. Males have been found to be more at risk of drowning than females when swimming at the beach (7), when consuming alcohol and drugs around the water (8), (9) and during spells of hot weather (10).

The association between drowning and alcohol and men is a concern in Australia. Reducing drowning deaths involving alcohol and drugs has been identified as a key priority in the Australian Water Safety Strategy (11). Over the past 10 years (2004/05 – 2014/15), 1060 people drowned with alcohol or drugs in their system, of which 77% were males (11). A recent Australian study revealed that 40.8% of drowning deaths in river locations involved alcohol, of which 70.3% had a BAC of ≥ 0.05 mg/L, males reported a higher alcohol-related drowning rate than females, and 50.0% were aged 25 – 34 years (12). A NSW study of alcohol related drowning in 2009 reported that 29.0% of total drowning deaths involved alcohol, 81.2% were among men, with 15 – 29 years the highest age group with alcohol present (13).

Drug taking prior to or during aquatic activities is less known, however it appears to be becoming a trend among drowning cases in Australia, notably among males using boats and watercraft (14) and when around an inland waterways (12). A Swedish study of drowning deaths reported that psychoactive drugs were present in up to 40.0% of drowning deaths, with illicit drugs detected in almost 10% of the cases. Males and the mid to older age groups were most likely to have alcohol and drugs present compared to females and children (9). Whilst random drug testing for motor vehicles has commenced in NSW and across the country, it is unknown if the same strategy will be extended to boats. Of particular relevance to NSW and reinforced in the findings of this report is the number of rock fishing deaths among males in NSW. Rock fishing deaths have been the subject of coronial inquests in NSW on three separate occasions, May 2011, June 2011 and most recently in July 2015 (15). The contributing factors in all inquests noted: incidents occurred at locations considered dangerous or high risk for drowning, no lifejackets, and most had been swept into the water by waves. Other factors noted included most having been born overseas and two were rescue attempts. Reccommendations from the 2015 coronial findings included: "In those circumstances the evidence informs us that the best precaution for a rock fisherman who is unexpectedly swept into the sea is a life-jacket that will keep them buoyant until assistance arrives" (15). Much like wearing a lifejacket when boating, the chance of survival and a successful rescue of a rock fisher in the water increases dramatically when wearing lifejackets (15). Initiatives aiming to reduce rock fishing related deaths are currently being trialled in NSW and will be discussed later in the report. A drowning prevention program in New Zealand over a 5 year period has reported some success in fishers behaviour and attitudes with decreased rates of fishers never wearing lifejackets from 72.0% in 2006 to 34% in 2010. The research participants were mostly males aged 16 to 44 years of recent residency and 42% had english as a second language (16).

As noted in the rock fishing coronial inquests, an emerging challenge for drowning prevention is drowning deaths among those born outside of Australia. Whilst the true burden of drowning among people born overseas on a national scale is currently unknown, in Western Australia overseas born account for a quarter of all drowning deaths annually, mostly from nonenglish speaking countries (17). In Victoria, overseas born made up 18% of drowning deaths in 2015-16, of which most were males and aged between 25 and 44 years (18). Reducing drowning deaths among Culturally and Linguistically Diverse (CALD) communities has also been identified as a priority in the Australian Water Safety Strategy (11), with prevention programs being targeted to these populations. A study from New Zealand reported that new migrants were more likely to pursue aquatic activity when in New Zealand than when previously living in their home country (19).

This report will analyse the contributing risk factors of drowning among men aged 25 – 34 years in NSW over a 10 year period.

AIMS

This study aimed to:

- Gain an in-depth understanding of the burden of drowning among males aged 25-34 years across the last 10 financial years (1 July 2005 to 30 June 2015) in NSW, including the circumstances of drowning deaths and key risk factors
- Propose recommendations going forward, including future directions and prevention strategies targeting males aged 25-34 years specifically in relation to alcohol and drug use around water

METHODS

All unintentional drowning deaths among males aged 25 to 34 years, which occurred between 1 July 2005 and 30 June 2015 were included in this report.

Information for this report has been collected from State and Territory Coronial Offices, the National Coronial Information System (NCIS) and media reports. It has been collated and analysed by the Royal Life Saving Society – Australia.

Royal Life Saving uses a media monitoring service (both electronic and print media) all year round to identify drowning deaths in the media. The information is then corroborated with information from the NCIS, police and Royal Life Saving State and Territory Member Organisations before being included in this report.

All care is taken to ensure that the information is as accurate as possible. Please note that the figures from more recent financial years may change depending upon the outcomes of ongoing coronial investigations and findings. This report contains information correct as at 22 May 2017. As of this date, 87.3% of cases were closed (i.e. no longer under coronial investigation).

Exclusions from this data include: drowning deaths known to be as a result of suicide or homicide, deaths from natural causes, shark and crocodile attack, or hypothermia where known. All information presented is about drowning deaths or deaths where drowning was a factor.

The crude drowning rate was calculated using ten year Australian population figures for men aged 25-34 years between June 2006 and June 2015 from the Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS).

Information on visa type was obtained directly from police reports or 'finding' documents within the NCIS. As such, the language used (regarding the type of visa) in the document was also used in this report. In cases where a visa was discussed, they fell into the categories of "student visa", "working visa", "tourist visa" or "student and working visa". The remoteness classification was defined by the Australian Standard Geographical Classification – Remoteness Area (ASGC-RA) system. The distance between the incident and residential postcode was determined using Google Maps. A distance of less than 100km was considered 'not a visitor', more than 100km but within the same state was 'visitor - intrastate', a different state was 'visitor - interstate' and an overseas residential postcode as 'visitor – overseas'. In cases where the incident or resident postcode was unknown, this was entered as 'unknown'.

The time of drowning was coded into four bands: early morning (12:01am to 6am), morning (6:01am to 12pm), afternoon (12:01pm to 6pm) and evening (6:01pm to 12am).

Some locations and activities with only a small number of applicable cases were grouped for the purposes of reporting. The location of 'bathtub/spa bath' was grouped with 'other'. The activities of 'bathing', 'swept away' and 'swept in' were grouped with 'other'.

A Blood Alcohol Concentration (BAC) greater than or equal to 0.05 (0.05 grams of alcohol per 100 millilitres of blood) was considered relevant and contributory to the drowning death. Additionally, for the purposes of this report, all prescribed medications were considered to be legal. Illicit drugs, such as cannabis and methamphetamine, were considered illegal drugs.

Lifejacket use was considered in cases where a drowning death involved boating or rock fishing, with information on usage and suitability taken from the coronial finding or inquest finding and police reports on the NCIS.

Data were analysed using SPSS Version 24. Descriptive statistics were utilised, as well as chi squared analysis. Statistical significance was deemed p<0.01. Chi squared analysis was conducted without the 'unknown' variable (e.g. the presence of alcohol was calculated using the 'yes' and 'no' variables only).

RESULTS

Between 1 July 2005 and 30 June 2015 (a period of 10 financial years), 121 men aged 25-34 years drowned in NSW waterways. This represents 11.8% of all drowning deaths in NSW during this time period with a crude drowning rate of 2.4 per 100, 000 men aged 25 to 34 years.

Drowning deaths occurred in all years of the study period, with a high of 14 deaths (11.6%) occurring 5 times over the 10 year period and a low of 6 deaths (5.0%) in 2007-08 (Figure 1). The average number of deaths per financial year was 12.



Figure 1: Drowning deaths among men aged 25 to 34 years in NSW by financial year

Overall demographic information

The highest number of drowning deaths occurred in males aged 25 (15.7%) or 30 years (14.0%), with the lowest number occurring in males aged 32 years (7.4%) (Figure 2).



Figure 2: Drowning deaths among men aged 25 to 34 years in NSW by age in years

The majority of people who drowned did not identify as either Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander (95.9%). The status of the remaining 4.1% was either unknown or the information was missing.

Of those men aged 25 – 34 who drowned in NSW over this period, slightly more were born in another country (43.8%) than in Australia (42.9%) (Figure 3). This information was unknown in 13.2% of cases. Of those born overseas, 37.2% were from Non-English speaking countries and 6.6% from English speaking countries including New Zealand, the United States, the United Kingdom and Canada.



Figure 3: Drowning deaths among men aged 25 to 34 years in NSW by country of birth

A number of men in this age bracket were in Australia on either a student or working visa, with 4.9% of people on a student visa and 3.3% on a working visa. A further 0.8% were described as being on both a student and working visa (Figure 4).



Figure 4: Drowning deaths among men aged 25 to 34 years in NSW by type of visa

Almost half of drowning incidents occurred in major cities (47.1%), with 38.0% occurring in inner regional areas and 9.9% in outer regional areas. A small proportion of incidents took place in remote (2.5%), very remote (0.8%) and offshore (0.8%) locations. The location was unknown in one case (Figure 5).



Figure 5: Drowning deaths among men aged 25 to 34 years in NSW by remoteness classification of incident

Three quarters of people who drowned were not visitors to the location where they drowned (74.4%). Intrastate visitors accounted for 10.7% of deaths, with 7.4% classified as interstate visitors and 5.0% overseas visitors. This information could not be obtained in the remaining 2.5% of cases (Figure 6).



Figure 6: Drowning deaths among men aged 25 to 34 years in NSW by visitor status

Time of drowning deaths

Season

Drowning deaths occurred all year round, with the most occurring in summer (42.1%). Autumn was the second most common season for drowning incidents (23.1%), followed by spring (19.0%) and winter (15.7%) (Figure 7).



Figure 7: Drowning deaths among men aged 25 to 34 years in NSW by season of drowning incident

Month

Aligning with the seasonal trends for drowning, the highest number of deaths occurred in January (16.5%), December (14.0%) and February (11.6%). The lowest number of deaths occurred in June (3.3%) and August (4.1%) (Figure 8).





Day of the week

More people drowned on weekends than weekdays, with Saturdays accounting for 23.1% of deaths and Sunday accounting for 21.5%. The lowest number of deaths occurred on Thursday (7.4%) and Tuesday (9.9%) (Figure 9).



Figure 9: Drowning deaths among men aged 25 to 34 years in NSW by day of week

Time

The afternoon between 12:01pm and 6pm was the most common time for people to drown, with almost half (43.8%) of incidents occurring in this time band. A similar proportion of people drowned in the morning (17.4%) as the evening (17.4%), with a further 10.7% of incidents occurring in the hours of the early morning. The time of drowning was unknown in 10.7% of cases (Figure 10).



Figure 10: Drowning deaths among men aged 25 to 34 years in NSW by time band

Location and activity related to drowning deaths

Location

Beaches were the leading location for drowning, accounting for 29.8% of deaths. Rivers, creeks and streams accounted for the second highest number of deaths (24.8%), followed by rocks (18.2%). Other common locations for drowning included lakes, dams and lagoons (9.9%) and ocean / harbour locations (9.1%) (Figure 11). Among those who drowned at beaches, the leading activities were swimming and recreating (69.4%) and using watercraft (11.1%), followed by diving, performing a rescue and an unknown activity (all 5.6%). Among those who drowned at rivers, creeks and streams, most were boating (23.3%), swimming and recreating (20.0%) or fell into the water (20.0%). The majority of men who drowned at rocks were rock fishing (86.4%). Those born overseas were significantly more likely to drown at rocks than Australian born (29.0% vs. 7.7%, X2 = 31.2, p < 0.01).



Figure 11: Drowning deaths among men aged 25 to 34 years in NSW by location

When analyzing by visitor status (yes and no), those considered visitors were most likely to drown at the beach (40.6%) compared to any other location, with most non-visitors likely to have drowned at a river, creek or stream (27.0%) or at the beach (25.8%) (Figure 12).



Figure 12: Drowning deaths among males aged 25 to 34 years in NSW by location and visitor status

Activity

The most common activity being undertaken prior to drowning was swimming and recreating (29.8%), followed by rock fishing (15.7%) and boating (12.4%). Other common activities included an unexpected fall into water (7.4%) and diving (5.0%). Activity was unknown in 5.8% of cases (Figure 13).

Of those who drowned while swimming and recreating, 69.4% were at the beach and 16.7% were at a river, creek or stream. For those who were boating, 46.7% were at river, creek or stream and 33.3% were at a lake, dam or lagoon. Of those who were involved in an unknown activity, almost half (42.9%) drowned at an ocean or harbour location.



Figure 13: Drowning deaths among men aged 25 to 34 years in NSW by activity

Risk factors related to drowning deaths

Alcohol

Over a third of all drowning deaths were known to involve alcohol (36.4%). A similar proportion did not involve alcohol (38.0%). Information was unknown in one quarter of cases (25.6%) (Figure 14).



Figure 14: Drowning deaths among men aged 25 to 34 years in NSW by presence of alcohol

The presence of alcohol was examined in relation to a number of variables, including demographics. Alcohol was more often present than not, in men aged 25 years, 26 years, 31 years and 33 years (Figure 15). Of those with alcohol present, 11.4% had an underlying medical condition.



Figure 15: Drowning deaths among men aged 25 to 34 years in NSW by alcohol presence and age

The presence of alcohol was examined by different locations. Locations where people had consumed more alcohol than not occurred in: rivers, creeks and streams (yes 38.6%, no 15.2%); lakes, dams and lagoons (yes 13.6%, no 10.9%) and ocean / harbour locations (yes 13.6%, no 8.7%). In all other aquatic locations people were less likely to have alcohol present. Beaches (41.9%) and rocks (25.8%) both had a high proportion of unknowns (Figure 16). When analysed by alcohol and visitor status, 38.2% of non-visitors and 31.3% of visitors were found to have alcohol present.



Figure 16: Drowning deaths among men aged 25 to 34 years in NSW by alcohol presence and location

Of those with alcohol present, 31.8% were swimming and recreating and 20.5% were boating (Figure 17). When analysing by type of activity and alcohol, alcohol was present in more cases than not in deaths related to non-aquatic transport (yes: 75.0%, no: 25.0%), boating (yes: 60.0%, no: 13.3%), unknown activity (yes: 57.1%, no: 28.6%), unexpected fall into water (yes: 44.4%, no: 33.3%), swimming and recreating (yes: 38.9%, no: 30.6%). Of those who were bathing, diving and other, an equal number of deaths did and did not involve alcohol.



Figure 17: Drowning deaths among men aged 25 to 34 years in NSW by alcohol presence and activity

Where alcohol was present, almost half (47.7%) occurred during summer and 20.5% in spring. Winter had the least number of alcohol related deaths (13.6%). The highest number of alcohol related deaths occurred in January (28.0%), and the most frequent day of the week was a Saturday (27.3%) with deaths least likely on a Tuesday or Wednesday (6.8% each).

Alcohol was most likely to be involved in deaths occurring in the afternoon (31.8%). Nearly a quarter of alcohol related deaths occurred in the evening and early morning (22.7% each). Of those that drowned in the early morning, they were 5 times more likely to have alcohol present than not (yes: 22.7%, no: 4.3%) People were least likely to have consumed alcohol in the morning (9.1%) (Figure 18). Statistical significance was not evident among any of the variables when analysed by alcohol.



Figure 18: Drowning deaths among men aged 25 to 34 years in NSW analysed by alcohol and time of day

Alcohol Relevance

Of those drowning deaths in which alcohol was present (n = 44), the amount of alcohol detected was deemed relevant (BAC greater than or equal to 0.05) in 58.1% of those cases. Alcohol was deemed non-contributory in 37.2% of cases, with the remaining 4.7% of cases not offering enough information to determine whether or not the presence of alcohol was contributory to the drowning death (Figure 19).



Figure 19: Drowning deaths among men aged 25 to 34 years in NSW by alcohol relevance

When analysed by location, rivers, creeks and streams had the highest frequency of men being over the limit (44.0%). The amount of alcohol detected was relevant more often than not for all locations except for ocean/ harbour locations (yes: 33.3%, no: 50.0%) and 'other' locations (yes: 0.0%, no: 100%). Beaches had an equal number of people below and over the alcohol limit (50.0%). All alcohol related cases in swimming pools and bathtubs / spa baths were related to a relevant amount of alcohol (Figure 20).



Figure 20: Drowning deaths among men aged 25 to 34 years in NSW by alcohol relevance and location

The activities where people were most likely to be over the alcohol limit were during swimming and recreating, and when boating (24.0% each), followed by an unexpected fall into water (12.0%) (Figure 21). Activities that had all cases of alcohol as being over the limit were: bathing, fishing, jumped in, and swept into the water.





Of those cases with a relevant amount of alcohol detected, the most occurred in the summer (44.0%), in January (28.0%) and on a Saturday (32.0%). The majority of cases with high alcohol content occurred in the afternoon and early morning (28.0% each). When analysed by visitor status, 60.0% of visitors with alcohol present and 57.6% of non-visitors with alcohol present were deemed to be over the alcohol limit.

Drugs

Almost one quarter of drowning deaths were known to involve drugs (23.1%), including both legal and illegal substances. Almost half of cases did not involve drugs (47.1%), while 29.8% of cases did not provide toxicology information (Figure 22).



Figure 22: Drowning deaths among men aged 25 to 34 years in NSW by presence of drugs

When analysed by presence of drugs and age, those aged 28 years (yes: 36.4%, no: 27.3%) and 29 years (yes: 40.0%, no: 20.0%) had more cases involving drugs than not. Men aged 30 years had an equal number of cases with drugs present and not present and the highest number of unknown cases (Figure 23).



Figure 23: Drowning deaths among men aged 25 to 34 years in NSW by drugs and age

All aquatic locations recorded more cases not involving drugs than those which did apart from 'other' (7.1%) location. The highest proportion of drugs were found among drowning deaths at rivers, creek and streams (32.1%) and at beaches (25.0%). Beaches (38.9%) and rocks (25.0%) both had a high proportion of unknowns (Figure 24). When analysed by drugs and visitor status, nearly one quarter (24.7%) of non-visitors to the location had drugs present compared to 18.8% of visitors.



Drugs present - Yes
Drugs present - No
Drugs present - Unknown

Figure 24: Drowning deaths among men aged 25 to 34 years in NSW by drugs and location

Of drug related deaths, 42.9% occurred in the summer, 28.6% were in January, and 39.3% occurred in the afternoon. Surprisingly, the highest number of deaths involving drugs occurred on a Monday (21.14%), however when combined, over half occurred on Friday, Saturday or a Sunday (17.9% each).

The highest proportion of drug related deaths occurred when the person was swimming and recreating (28.6%), followed by boating and an unexpected fall into water (10.7% each). Only those that had jumped into the water and been swept into the water had more drugs present than not, compared to all other activities. An equal number of cases had drugs present/not present when bathing, fishing, using non-aquatic transport and undertaking other activity (Figure 25).



Figure 25: Drowning deaths among men aged 25 to 34 years in NSW by drugs and activity

Of those with drugs present, over a third had consumed solely illegal drugs (35.7%) and 21.4% had consumed both legal and illegal drugs (Figure 26).



Figure 26: Drowning deaths among men aged 25 - 34 years in NSW by legality of drugs

When analysing by age and legality of drugs, overall men aged 30 years had the highest proportion of illegal drugs in their system (4/5 cases, 80.0%). Men of all ages had consumed both legal and illegal drugs, with exception of those aged 27 years found to only have had legal drugs (e.g. medication) (Figure 27). Overseasborn men were significantly less likely to have consumed drugs (11.3% vs. 40.4%, X2 = 15.9 p <0.01) than Australian born men.



Figure 27: Drowning deaths among men aged 25 to 34 years in NSW by legality of drugs

In regards to cases recording the presence of illegal drugs, over half occurred in inner regional locations (56.3%), a quarter on a Sunday (25.0%), and 37.5% in the afternoon. In regards to location, 37.5% occurred at a river, creek or stream and a quarter (25.0%) at a lake, dam or lagoon (Figure 28). Of drowning deaths among non-visitors or locals, one quarter involved drugs, of which 59.1% recorded illegal drugs.



Drugs legal - Yes Drugs legal - No

Figure 28: Drowning deaths among men aged 25 to 34 years in NSW by drug legality and location

When analysed by presence of drugs and activity, all cases of drugs were illegal when diving, fishing, being swept into the water, jumping into the water, an unexpected fall into the water, using non-aquatic transport and 'other' activity (Figure 29).



Figure 29: Drowning deaths among men aged 25 to 34 years in NSW by drugs and activity

Alcohol and drugs

When examining alcohol consumption by drug use, it was found that 12.4% of drowning deaths involved both alcohol and drugs, while 27.3% involved neither. In a further 19.8% of cases alcohol was known to be present but not drugs and in 10.7% of cases drugs were known to be present but not alcohol. In 25.6% of cases, toxicology information on both alcohol and drugs was missing (Figure 30).





Medical conditions

A pre-existing medical condition was known to be present in 15.7% of deaths. There were no known medical conditions in 33.9% of cases, with medical history or autopsy results not available in 50.4% of cases (Figure 31). Men aged 27 and 33 years were most likely to have a medical condition (21.1% each). Common medical conditions identified included: cardiovascular disease, epilepsy, liver disease, depression and other mental health disorders. Of those that had a pre-existing medical condition, most drowned at the beach (26.3%) and were swimming and recreating (21.1%), followed by diving and using watercraft (15.8% each).





Lifejacket usage

Lifejacket use was examined, with no case having reported to be wearing a lifejacket at the time of death. Lifejacket usage was also examined among men who drowned while rock fishing (n = 19), although this information was missing in over half of cases (57.9%). A lifejacket was not worn in any of the deaths which occured when rock fishing (42.1%) (Figure 32).



Figure 32: Drowning deaths among men aged 25 to 34 years in NSW by lifejacket wear while rock fishing

Other factors

Flood-related

Although the majority of drowning incidents were not flood-related, 3.3% of deaths did involve flooded waterways. In a further 9.9% of cases, it was not known whether the death was flood-related, commonly due to a lack of circumstantial detail (Figure 33). All flood related cases had alcohol present, of which 50.0% were found to be over the limit and three out of four cases involved drugs, of which all were considered legal (e.g. medication).



Figure 33: Drowning deaths among men aged 25 to 34 years in NSW by flooding

Multiple fatality event (MFE)

In 16.5% of cases, more than one person drowned during the incident, resulting in a MFE. In most cases (82.6%), the incident resulted in one fatality. However, this information was unknown in one instance (0.8%) (Figure 34). Men aged 25 years were most likely to be involved in a MFE (30.0%), followed by those aged 30 years (25.0%).



Figure 34: Drowning deaths among men aged 25 to 34 years in NSW by multiple fatality event

Of those involved in a MFE, 40.0% drowned at a river, creek or stream, followed by beaches, ocean / harbour locations and rocks (15.0% each). Multiple fatality events were most likely to occur when using watercraft (30.0%) or when swimming and recreating (20.0%) (Figure 35). When analysing by presence of alcohol, alcohol was present in 40.0% and drugs present in 20.0% of MFEs. Three of four cases with drugs present involved illegal drugs. Overall, 6.6% of men were involved in a MFE that also involved alcohol and 3.3% involved drugs.



Figure 35: Drowning deaths among men aged 25 to 34 years in NSW by multiple fatality event and location

DISCUSSION

Men aged 25 to 34 years have previously been identified as being high risk for drowning in Australia. This report shows that the contributing factors for young men drowning in NSW are consistent with national trends relating to alcohol, drugs and lack of lifejacket wearing. This study elaborates further on issues specific to NSW including rock fishing and the number of overseas-born men who are drowning in NSW waterways.

In relation to age, men aged 25 years and 30 years were the most likely to drown among this age bracket. Men aged 25 years had more alcohol present than not, they made up the highest proportion of drowning deaths when rock fishing (21.1%) and when swimming and recreating (19.4%). They were also most likely to be involved in multiple fatality events (30.0%). Those aged 30 years had the highest proportion of illegal drugs compared to any other age.

Overall, beaches were the leading location for drowning deaths in NSW, with swimming and recreating found to be the most common activity undertaken prior to drowning, followed by rock fishing. A small proportion (5.8%) drowned following an unknown activity, suggesting they may have been alone at the time they drowned and the incident was unwitnessed. Undertaking any type of aquatic activity alone is dangerous, as assisted may be limited if a dangerous situation arises. All people, even otherwise fit and healthy men, should avoid swimming or recreating near water alone, especially at night.

Alcohol consumption and drug use are obvious risk factors for drowning among this demographic. The presence of alcohol was recorded in over a third of men who drowned, with more than half recording a BAC greater than or equal to 0.05mg/L. Just under a quarter were known to have consumed drugs prior to the incident, with nearly half of these involving illegal drugs, most commonly cannabis and methamphetamine. Two thirds of drowning deaths involving illegal drugs occurred in inland locations.

These results suggest that alcohol and drug use when around the water and when participating in aquatic activities is of the norm among this demographic. Regardless of whether the person had intended to be in the water, e.g. swimming, bathing or jumping, or unexpectedly, such as a fall or being swept into the water, the quantity of alcohol and drugs evident among this age group is extremely concerning. Consuming such a high level of alcohol and/or illegal drugs is known to impair judgement, affect coordination, perception and can increase risk taking behavior. Alcohol and drugs can significantly impact survival when in the water (13). It is worth noting that alcohol consumption and drug use do not appear to be contributing factors in rock fishing deaths, unlike many other activities. In regards to location, drowning deaths involving alcohol were more likely to occur at rivers, creeks and streams and least likely to occur at a swimming pool, when bathing or in other locations. Inland waterways combined accounted for over half of all alcohol related drowning deaths, with 60% recording an alcohol reading equal to or greater than 0.05mg/L. Rivers, lakes and dams are often in isolated areas, where enforcement of alcohol restrictions are less likely to occur and can often take longer for emergency services to reach. Royal Life Saving's Respect the River campaign aims to increase awareness and knowledge of water safety in key rivers across Australia, with the most recent campaign addressing men and alcohol consumption in these locations.

Nearly half of all drowning deaths involving alcohol occurred in the evening and early morning. This suggests alcohol consumption may be related to evening entertainment activities which can extend into the early hours of the morning, particularly in the summer when both the weather and water are at warmer temperatures. Targeted campaigns addressing alcohol consumption near aquatic environments and during aquatic activity should be carefully considered to maximize the impact of the messages.

Lifejacket usage was investigated for boating and rock fishing related deaths. No rock fishing related cases were recorded to have been wearing a lifejacket (although over half were unknown), nor was there mention of lifejackets being present (e.g. carried but not worn) in any of the boating incidents. Of those that drowned when rock fishing, 89.5% were recorded as not being born in Australia. This is of importance as recent coronial recommendations following rock fishing deaths have highlighted the need for education campaigns to target high risk groups, such as people from culturally and linguistically diverse (CALD) communities (15). Currently the NSW Government is trialing the mandatory wearing of lifejackets in the Randwick Council area of Sydney. Whilst anecdotal evidence from NSW Marine Area Command suggest an increase in the wearing of lifejackets among rock fishers in NSW since the introduction of the trial, evaluation is not yet available. Concentrated education efforts across a range of methods with key partners need to continue in order to make an impact in this area.

Royal Life Saving advocates for correctly fitted lifejackets to be worn by all people onboard a boat and when rock fishing. Regardless of experience, people participating in boating and fishing activity should always be prepared by wearing a lifejacket, taking the correct safety equipment, checking the marine weather and water conditions, and telling someone where they are going and when they intend to be back. The majority of drowning deaths examined in this study occurred among local residents, or those not considered visitors to the location where they drowned. Nonvisitors most frequently drowned at inland waterways, whilst visitors were more likely to drown at beaches. Non-visitors were more likely to take risks around the water such as drinking a large quantity of alcohol and consuming illegal drugs. Although local residents may have local knowledge and experience, this may lead to complacency in taking safety precautions, especially when alcohol and drugs are involved.

Although most people were classified as non-visitors, nearly half of these men were born overseas and may not be aware of the risks posed by Australian waterways. Just over a third of those born overseas were swimming and recreating and over a quarter were rock fishing. Interestingly, overseas-born men were significantly less likely to have consumed drugs (11.3% vs. 40.4%, X2 = 15.9 p< 0.01) and less likely to have had alcohol (30.6% vs. 44.2%) than those born in Australia, although the difference in alcohol consumption between the two groups was not statistically significant. This suggests that overseas-born men may be more cautious around the water than those born in Australia. In contrast, those born overseas were 3.8 times more likely to drown at rocks than Australian born (29.0% vs. 7.7%, X2 = 31.2, p<0.01). Future research would benefit from improved data regarding country of birth, years in country and visa status to continue to target interventions to the appropriate audience. It is likely that those born overseas were in the country on student or work visas. Partnering with local universities or training institutes with large numbers of international students and with community agencies may be valuable to engage with these 'at-risk' populations before they start to visit aquatic locations and participate in activities.

Unsurprisingly, most drowning deaths occurred in the summer months during the peak summer holiday period (December and January) and during the weekends (44.6%). This is a time when people may be visiting locations for the first time or for an annual visit and may unfamiliar with the environment. During the summer months in NSW longer daylight hours, warmer air and water temperatures entice more people to the water. Studies from Canada report an increased risk of men drowning in temperatures over 30 degress celcius and a 69% increased risk of drowning in an outdoor setting (10). Drowning deaths during the summer months may be due to a combination of factors, therefore campaigns leading up to and during this period targeting men may be useful. Summer drowning messages tend to emphasise children and family water safety rather than the older demographic that are more likely to drown over this period.

Another recurring theme was the issue of weather and wave conditions leading to the person being in the water. Weather and waves were commonly cited in reference to rock fishing 'this person drowned as a result of being washed off the rocks by waves when rock fishing' (15). Additionally, rip currents were cited in a number of swimming and surfing deaths and when attempting a rescue. Strong winds and big swells were often recorded in boating incidents. Weather was also a factor in non-aquatic transport incidents. This reinforces the importance of checking the marine weather and being prepared; it is clear many of these men simply did not take the right precautions regardless of whether they were under the influence of alcohol and drugs or not.



LIMITATIONS

CONCLUSION

- A proportion of cases within this report were open (ie. case still under investigation) and as such, a number of variables remain unknown until the case is closed following the completion of any coronial investigation. It should be noted there may be a higher number of unknown variables among cases in regional / rural areas or more recent years where a larger proportion of cases may still be under investigation.
- Amongst cases which were closed, some were still missing information, either because the information was unknown or it was not made available electronically. In such cases, variables were entered as 'unknown', limiting the completeness of the data.

Drowning deaths of males aged 25-34 years occurred throughout the year, with beaches and rivers, creeks and streams being the leading location for drowning among this demographic. A number of key risk factors emerged, including alcohol and drug use. Although risky alcohol consumption is relevant to all aquatic locations, it was significantly more likely in river, creek and stream drowning deaths. Similarly, there was an association between alcohol consumption and fatalities related to non-aquatic transport and boating incidents. By examining risk factors, evidence-based prevention strategies can be developed to target excessive alcohol consumption around water, including high risk areas (rivers, creeks and streams), activities (boating) and populations (Indigenous Australians).

Drowning deaths as a result of unsafe boating practices were also a common occurrence, with poor conditions, a lack of planning and absent or deficient safety equipment all contributing to a number of deaths. Promotion of lifejacket usage is an important strategy to decrease not only deaths related to boating but also rock fishing. Any successful strategy in this area will need to be multi-faceted and inclusive, in order to bring about meaningful change.

REFERENCES

- 1. Royal Life Saving Society Australia. Royal Life Saving National Drowning Report 2016. Sydney, 2016.
- 2. Mahony A, Peden AE. Young men and drowning: An analysis of drowning deaths among men aged 25-34 years. Sydney: Royal Life Saving Society - Australia, 2016.
- 3. Croft JL, Button C. Interacting Factors Associated with Adult Male Drowning in New Zealand. Plos One. 2015;10(6).
- 4. Drowning Prevention Research Centre Canada. Canadian Drowning Report 2015 Edition. Canada: Lifesaving Society Canada, 2015.
- 5. Clemens T, Tamim H, Rotondi M, Macpherson A. A population based study of drowning in Canada. BMC Public Health. 2016;16(559).
- 6. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Drowning United States, 2005-2009. MMWR Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report. 2012;61(19):344-7.
- 7. Morgan D, Ozanne-Smith J. Surf Bather Drowning Risk and Exposure-Related Factors Identified by an Expert Panel. International Journal of Aquatic Research and Education. 2012;6(4):336-49.
- 8. Hamilton K, Schmidt HJ. Drinking and swimming: Investigating young Australian males' intentions to engage in recreational swimming while under the influence of alcohol. Journal of Community Health. 2013;ePub.
- 9. Ahlm K, Saveman BI, Björnstig U. Drowning deaths in Sweden with emphasis on the presence of alcohol and drugs A retrospective study, 1992-2009. BMC Public Health. 2013;13(1).
- 10. Fralick M, Denny C, Redelmeier DA. Drowning and the influence of hot weather. Plos One. 2013.
- 11. Australian Water Safety Council. Australian Water Safety Strategy 2016-2020. Sydney: Australian Water Safety Council, 2016.
- 12. Peden A, Franklin, RC, Leggat, PA. Alcohol and its contributory role in fatal drowning in Australian rivers, 2002–2012. Accident Analysis and Prevention. 2017;98:259-65.
- 13. Chellew C, Franklin RC, Simmonds E. Swim Safe, Swim Sober: A study examining drowning in NSW and the influence of alcohol. Sydney: Royal Life Saving Society Australia, NSW Branch, 2009.
- 14. Pidgeon S, Mahony, A. Boating and watercraft drowning deaths: A 10 year analysis. Sydney: Royal Life Saving Society Australia, 2016.
- 15. Coroners Court New South Wales. Coronial findings in rock fishing deaths in NSW. In: Government NSW, editor. Coroners Court Glebe 2015.
- 16. Moran K. Water Safety and Aucklands West Coast Fishers 2009. Report to the Auckland Regional Council, Surf Life Saving Northern Region and WaterSafe Auckland Inc. Auckland: WaterSafe Auckland, 2009.
- 17. Royal Life Saving Society Western Australia. Western Australia Drowning Report 2014/15. Perth: 2015.
- 18. Life Saving Victoria. Victorian Drowning Report 2015/16. Melbourne: Life Saving Victoria, 2016.
- 19. Moran K, Willcox S. Water Safety Practices and Perceptions of "New" New Zealanders. International Journal of Aquatic Research and Education. 2013;7(2):136-46.

ROYAL LIFE SAVING NSW CONTACT DETAILS:

To ensure we stay in tune with the needs of the diverse communities that make up our aquatic facilities, Royal Life Saving maintains a network of offices throughout NSW.

For more information contact:

Sydney	T: 02 9634 3700
Hunter	
Tionici	E: hunter@royalnsw.com.au
Illawarra	T: 02 4225 0108
	E: illawarra@royalnsw.com.au
Northern	T: 02 6651 6266
	E: northern@royalnsw.com.au
Riverina	T: 026921 7422
	E: riverina@royalnsw.com.au
Western	T: 02 6369 0679
	E: western@royalnsw.com.au

www.royallifesaving.com.au



